#### IN THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

#### APPEAL NO.: 18-0725

#### H. INTRODUCTION

Fraudulent concealment is hiding facts to deprive a person of some right or property. For nearly forty-six years the Petitioners have sought to find out who was responsible for the deaths of their loved ones. While justice delayed is justice denied, closing the courthouse doors due to fraudulent concealment is no justice at all.

This case concerns fraud, concealment, and nondisclosure of the identity of the management-level persons of the entity responsible for the deaths of seventy-eight coal miners, on November 20, 1968, at the Consol No. 9 coal mine in Farmington, West Virginia. Under West Virginia workers compensation immunity, a worker or the worker's estate is prohibited from bringing a civil action against the employer for workplace injury or death unless the worker or the worker's estate has evidence that the management of the employer willfully, wantonly and recklessly exposed the worker to unsafe working conditions.

Previous to a statutory cause of action created by the West Virginia legislature in 1985, a civil suit by a worker or the worker's estate was a common law cause of action whereby the worker or the worker's estate was required to prove that management willfully, wantonly and recklessly exposed the worker to unsafe working conditions causing injury or death. *Mandolidis v. Elkins Indus.*, 161 W. Va. 695, 246 S.E.2d 907 (1978). Importantly, the *Mandolidis* decision did not "create" the common law cause of action in 1978, but rather it clarified that this common law cause of action had existed from the original enactment of the West Virginia workers' compensation system in the 1930s. The *Mandolidis* decision established the level of conduct necessary to prove that common law action willful, wanton and reckless exposure of workers to unsafe working conditions. Therefore, at the time of the Farmington Mine Disaster in 1968, this was the cause of action the estates of the miners could have brought under West Virginia law against their employer.

West Virginia public policy does not support fraud. Most certainly, it does not support fraud which conceals the identity of management-level employees involved in the intentional exposure of 78 coal miners to unsafe conditions which resulted in their deaths in a horrific mine explosion and fire. Consistent with *Kessel v. Leavitt*, 204 W.Va. 95, 128, 511 S.E.2d 720, 753 (1998), a cause of action exists for fraudulent concealment under the unique facts presented. From November 20, 1968, to June 8, 2014, agents of Consolidation Coal Company hid the identity of the management persons responsible for and participating in rendering the mine fan alarm inoperable before the explosion.

Chief Electrician Alex Kovarbasich was a management-level employee who directed electrician Leonard Sacchetti to assist him in disabling an alarm which would sound if the Mod's Run ventilation fan shut down. The operation of this fan was critical to protect miners from methane build-up inside the mine. If the alarm were operable, if the ventilation fan shut down, the

alarm would sound and the mine would be evacuated. Evacuation of the mine is a costly and timeconsuming endeavor. For some inhumane reason, management of Consolidation Coal Company
and its agents believed the evacuation of the mine was unwarranted and the alarm was disabled.

Defendant Consolidation Coal Company and its agents, including Chief Electrician Alex
Kovarbasich, knew the truth and fraudulently concealed the identity of the management-level
agents from the estates. Importantly, even though there was evidence that the ventilation fan was
inoperable before the explosion, until there was evidence showing the involvement of mine
management in the disabling of the fan alarm, the Estates of the miners could not satisfy the
requisite factors to file wrongful death suits. Until mine management-level persons were
identified, the fan alarm could simply have been accidently disabled or a co-worker could have
disabled it for some reason. Because of the Respondent's conduct, the Petitioners were denied
critical information that would have permitted them to prevail in wrongful death actions within
two years of the explosion.

On June 8, 2014, it was first discovered that a person responsible for rendering the mine fan alarm system inoperable before the explosion was Consolidation Coal Company's Chief Electrician, Alex Kovarbasich. On November 6, 2014, the Petitioners filed their complaint in the Circuit Court of Marion County, West Virginia, alleging claims of "fraud, concealment and nondisclosure" against the Sheriff of Harrison County, as Administrator for the Estate of Alex Kovarbasich, and the Respondent. After removal to the federal District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia, the District Court ultimately dismissed the case under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Upon appeal, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit certified the above questions to this Honorable Court.

By fraudulent concealment, Respondent Consolidation Coal Company deprived the Petitioners of their ability to prevail in a civil action under West Virginia's Wrongful Death Act within two years of the explosion. The coal company and its agents hid the identity of the persons responsible for the miners' deaths. The Court should note that management-level employees of Consolidation Coal Company, *including Alex Kovarbasich*, were called to testify before the federal investigative panel and, despite their knowledge of the reason why 78 miners were not evacuated after a critical mine ventilation fan shut down, they remained silent. They intentionally and fraudulently sentenced the families of the lost 78 miners to a prison of unanswered questions and no closure to their grief in which they remain to this day. A plaintiff cannot file a claim for fraudulent concealment until the plaintiff knows the critical element of "who" was responsible for the concealment and "who" directed the person to act.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Operative Facts

On November 20, 1968, the Petitioners' decedents, and all similarly situated class members, were coal miners at the Consol No. 9 Mine located in or near Farmington, Marion County, West Virginia. JA 177, ¶ 12. "Alex Kovarbasich was a member of mine management and performed mine management duties as the [C]hief [E]lectrician at the Consol No. 9 Mine. . . . Alex Kovarbasich was responsible for the maintenance and safe operation of the surface fans which flushed methane from the Consol No. 9 Mine so as to ensure that methane did not reach unsafe levels." *Id.* at ¶ 13. At unsafe levels between 5% and 15%, methane gas is explosive.

Two entities performed work at the Consol No. 9 Mine: Mountaineer Coal Company and Consolidation Coal Company. JA 176-177, ¶ 8. The Consol No. 9 Mine was under the

direction and control of Consolidation Coal Company. JA 178, ¶ 14. It was Consolidation Coal Company's duty and obligation to ensure that the No. 9 Mine was safe and free of hazards. *Id.* at ¶ 16. There existed a fiduciary relationship and a special relationship between the decedents and Consolidation Coal Company. JA 188, ¶ 56.

"Methane is a highly flammable, odorless, colorless, hydrocarbon. It is a product of the decomposition of organic matter and of the carbonization of coal. During the coal mining process, methane is liberated into the mine environment, necessitating ventilation of the mine area to avoid ignition and explosion." JA 179-180, ¶ 22. To flush methane from the Consol No. 9 Mine, the Respondent "utilized four large surface fans: the No. 1 fan at the slope; the Athas Run fan near the 2 North area of the mine (No. 2. fan); the Mod's Run fan near the 4 North area of the Mine (No. 3 fan); and the Llewellyn fan near the 7 South area of the mine (No. 4 fan). The No. 3 and No. 4 fans ventilated the west side of the mine. By operation of mining regulations and safe mining practices, fans were required to run twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week. . . . Further, by operation of mining regulations and safe mining practices, each fan must be visually inspected at least one time per day." JA 180, ¶ 23.<sup>2</sup>

Consolidation Coal Company fitted its "fans with a FEMCO brand safety system. Each fan was connected to a display board at the lamp house. If a fan was running, its light on the display board was green. If a fan slowed or stopped, a red light came on and an alarm sounded. The miner in the lamp house would then contact the miners underground. If a fan was down for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mountaineer Coal Company was a division of Consolidation Coal Company. At this juncture, it is believed that non-management employees were employed by Mountaineer Coal Company while management employees were employed by Consolidation Coal Company.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "By operation of mining regulations and safe mining practices, if a fan stops and ventilation cannot be restored within 15 minutes, all power to the mine must be shut off and all miners must be withdrawn from the affected areas and/or the mine." Id. at ¶ 24.

more than 12 minutes, the system was designed to cut off all the power in the mine." Id. at ¶ 25. This would cease all production in the mine and force the evacuation of the entire underground workforce.

"At approximately 5:30 a.m. on Wednesday, November 20, 1968, an explosion occurred in the Consol No. 9 Mine. The force of the explosion extended throughout the west side of the mine inby the Plum Run overcast which included nine active working sections. Of the ninety-nine (99) miners in the mine, seventy-eight (78) died as a result of the explosion." JA 181, ¶ 27. Immediately after the "explosion, mine investigators found that the mine fan recording chart for the Mod's Run fan was taken from the mine fan box sometime after the explosion. The person who absconded with the mine fan recording chart presumably broke the glass covering on the fan chart box to take it." *Id.* at ¶ 31. The mine fan recording chart would have indicated whether the exhaust fan was running at the time of the explosion. If the fan was not running, the chart would have indicated how long it was inoperable.

"Between 1969 and 1978, the bodies of 59 victims were recovered and brought to the surface. However, recovery operations ceased and all entrances to the mine were permanently sealed in November of 1978, leaving 19 victims buried in the mine." Id. at ¶ 33. Today, this hallowed ground is the final resting place for 19 men.

"From November 20, 1968, to April of 1990, investigation of the cause of the explosion was conducted by the West Virginia Department of Mines, the United States Bureau of Mines, or the United States Department of Labor, Mine Safety and Health Administration." JA 182, ¶ 34. "In March of 1990, a United State Department of Labor, Mine Safety and Health Administration ("MSHA") investigation concluded, in part, that 'the ventilation along the Main West headings was inadequate overall, and most probably non-existent in some areas between 1 South and 4

North. On the day before the explosion . . . methane accumulated to about four percent on the right side of the 7 South section for a distance of approximately 1,000 feet outby the working section because of inadequate ventilation and the lack of sufficient ventilation controls. . . ." Id. at ¶ 35.

"In 2008, a copy of a September [1]5, 1970, handwritten memorandum by federal coal mine inspector Larry L. Layne was discovered. The memorandum provided as follows:

On Sept. 5, 1970, 12am-8am shift, the Mods Run substation was energized for the first time since the explosion of Nov. 20, 1968. The electrician (name withheld by request) reported that while energizing the substation he found evidence to indicate that the Femco fan alarm system for Mods Run fan had been rendered inoperable before the explosion. The fan alarm system had been bridged with jumper wires; therefore when the fan would stop or slow down, there was no way of anyone knowing about it because the alarm signal was bypassed. This information was reported to me Sept 15, 1970."

#### *Id.* at ¶ 37. *See also* JA 434, 1299-1300.

Just a year later, in "2009, a copy of an alleged November 20, 1968, Mod's Run mine fan recording chart was discovered. The Mod's Run mine fan recording chart was off schedule with the mine fan recording charts for the other fans. The ink line on the chart is thick and solid, unlike the thin, jagged lines on the other mine fan recording charts. The line on the Mod's Run mine fan recording chart stops abruptly at 5:00 a.m. on November 20, 1968." JA 182-183, ¶ 38.

From November 20, 1968, to June 8, 2014, the identity of the person or entity responsible for rendering the FEMCO alarm system inoperable was unknown to the Petitioners and, through the exercise of reasonable diligence, could not have been discovered by the Petitioners. JA 183, ¶ 39. Despite a thorough government investigation, neither Alex Kovarbasich nor Consolidation Coal Company disclosed or otherwise advised the Petitioners, or any state or federal mine agency, that, before the explosion, the FEMCO fan alarm system had been intentionally rendered inoperable by a member of mine management. Id.

As time passed, so too did the ability of the victim families to determine who or what entity was responsible for the decedents' deaths. Nevertheless, beginning in June 8, 2014, the truth began to trickle out. On June 8, 2014, Leonard Sacchetti told certain widow victims that Consolidation Coal Company's Chief Electrician, Alex Kovarbasich, was responsible for rendering the mine fan alarm system inoperable. JA 419-420 and 544-545. Consolidation Coal Company "affirmatively and intentionally concealed or otherwise prevented" the Petitioners "from discovering the existence of their cause of actions . . . by fraudulent act, omission, concealment, and suppression of the identity of the person" who was a cause of the miners' deaths and other information necessary to put decedents' estates on notice. JA 184, ¶ 44. The Petitioners have been kept in ignorance of vital information essential to the pursuit of their claims, without any fault or lack of diligence on their part. *Id.* The Petitioners could not reasonably have discovered the fraudulent nature of the Respondent's conduct until Mr. Sacchetti disclosed the person, and hence the entity, responsible for rendering the fan alarm inoperable before the explosion. *Id.* 

## **B.** Procedural Posture

On November 6, 2014, the Petitioners filed a complaint in the Circuit Court of Marion County, West Virginia, alleging claims of "fraud, concealment and nondisclosure" against Albert F. Marano, Sheriff of Harrison County, as Administrator to the Estate of Alex Kovarbasich (hereinafter "Estate of Kovarbasich"), and Consolidation Coal Company. JA 175-208. Thereafter, on December 12, 2014, the case was removed to the District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia by Respondent wherein it argued that the Estate of Kovarbasich was fraudulently joined because the Estate was improperly reopened and the claims against the Estate were untimely. JA 24. Subsequently, on December 17, 2014, Respondent Consolidation Coal Company filed a motion to dismiss arguing, in part, that the Petitioners' claims were time barred. JA 51. On

December 23, 2014, the Petitioners filed a motion to remand the case to state court denying that the Estate of Kovarbasich had been fraudulently joined and that their claims were time barred. JA 206.<sup>3</sup>

On February 9, 2015, the Petitioners moved to promptly perpetuate the testimony of Leonard Sacchetti. The District Court recognized Mr. Sacchetti's advanced age and granted the Petitioners' motion. On March 26, 2015, the deposition of Leonard Sacchetti was conducted. His testimony directly contradicted what Mr. Sacchetti previously told certain widows of deceased coal miners. *See* JA 419, 544, 551-554. Mr. Sacchetti testified that he was not working at the Consol No. 9 Mine after the explosion, but worked at Loveridge Mine on the midnight shift. JA 553. Consolidation Coal Company's own records indicate that both before and after the November 20, 1968, mine explosion, Mr. Sacchetti was working at the Consol No. 9 Mine. JA 542-543.

The Petitioners continued to investigate their claims. On April 3, 2015, Lawrence "Larry" Layne (hereinafter "Larry Layne"), a retired federal mine inspector who wrote the September 15, 1970, memorandum, advised the Petitioners that on September 5, 1970, it was Leonard Sacchetti who told him that not only had Alex Kovarbasich bypassed the mine fan alarm system before the explosion, but that Sacchetti had helped him do it. Mr. Layne did not disclose this information to anyone prior to April 3, 2015. JA 546, ¶ 9. In fact, in 2010, Mr. Layne went to Mr. Sacchetti's home in Fairmont, West Virginia, to discuss the Consol No. 9 Mine explosion. Upon learning of the reason for Mr. Layne's visit, Mr. Sacchetti threatened him in an effort to keep him quiet. JA 547, ¶ 10.4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Estate of Alex Kovarbasich was subsequently dismissed from this action. See generally In re Estate of Kovarbasich, 2016 W.Va. LEXIS 828 (Nov. 10, 2016) (Memorandum Decision). Issues related to the Kovarbasich Estate are beyond the purview of the Fourth Circuit's certified questions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> On March 8, 2017, as further discussed infra, Mr. Layne was deposed. See JA 1273-1458.

Upon learning of Mr. Sacchetti's involvement in rendering the mine fan alarm system inoperable, and recognizing his outright denial of his involvement, on June 31, 2015, the Petitioners filed a motion to amend their complaint to add Mr. Sacchetti as a defendant. JA 549. The motion was transferred to Magistrate Judge John S. Kaull by order entered August 13, 2015, and hearing was held on the motion on September 10, 2015. JA 822, 829-924. Thereafter, by *Memorandum Opinion and Report and Recommendation*, entered September 29, 2015, the Magistrate Judge recommended that the Petitioners' motion for leave to add Mr. Sacchetti as a defendant be denied as futile. JA 945. Further, the Magistrate Judge found that the statute of limitations barred any claim against Mr. Sacchetti and that any stand-alone claims against Mr. Sacchetti for fraudulent concealment failed. JA 945.

On March 31, 2017, the District Court entered its *Memorandum Opinion and Order Adopting R&R and Granting the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss*. JA 1223. On the same date, a *Judgment in a Civil Action* was entered dismissing the case in its entirety. JA 1269. The District Court adopted the Magistrate Judge's Report and Recommendation in its entirety except for its finding that the Petitioners' complaint alleged deliberate intent claims. The District Court denied the Petitioners' motion to amend the complaint to add Leonard Sacchetti as a defendant because amendment was futile; granted Consolidation Coal Company's motion to dismiss; and dismissed all claims against Consolidation Coal Company with prejudice. JA 1267-1268.

The Petitioners appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. After briefing and oral argument, the Fourth Circuit certified the instant questions to this Court. JA 1781-1792.

## IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Petitioners are masters of their own complaint. The Petitioners have asserted a claim for fraudulent concealment, as recognized by *Kessel v. Leavitt*, 204 W.Va. 95, 128, 511 S.E.2d 720, 753 (1998), based upon the Respondent's concealment of the entity and person responsible for deaths of their loved ones. But for the Respondent's concealment, the Petitioners would have prevailed in timely actions under West Virginia's Wrongful Death Act. This Court's holding in *Kessell v. Leavitt*, as well as the public policy of this State, make clear that a cause of action exists for fraudulent concealment under the unique facts presented.

The remedies available under the Wrongful Death Act are but an element of damages that the Petitioners seek through their fraudulent concealment claims. West Virginia law does not reward fraud. The fact that the "property" or the "right" which the Petitioners were fraudulently denied was the value of their wrongful death actions does not convert this fraudulent concealment case into one of wrongful death. The fraudulent actions of the Respondent's agents denied the Petitioners their ability to prevail upon claims of wrongful death. While the Petitioners understand that, as part of their case against the Respondent, they must prove a "case within the case," that does not alter or nullify the fraudulent concealment claims alleged in the complaint. A legal malpractice case is analogous. In a legal malpractice case, where a plaintiff alleges the lawyer filed a wrongful death case too late, the plaintiff must prove not only that the lawyer failed to file the claim within the applicable statute of limitations, but also the viability and value of the claim. The fact that the plaintiff in a legal malpractice case must prove the "case within the case," by evidence of the viability of the underlying wrongful death claim, does not convert the legal malpractice claim into a wrongful death claim.

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