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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Certified question No. 1 must be answered in the negative. Petitioners can assert no 

cognizable common law claim under Kessel, or any reasoned extension of Kessel, for damages 

occasioned by the deaths of their decedents. Such claims may only be made in accordance with 

the provisions of the Wrongful Death Statute itself. Adoption of Petitioners' argument that 

Kessel be read to recognize a separate, common law fraudulent concealment action sounding in 

wrongful death not only would effectively eviscerate the West Virginia Wrongful Death Statute, 

W. Va. Code § 55-7-6 (1967), and the legislative intent behind it, but would run directly contrary 

to long established West Virginia law that no right of recovery for wrongful death exists at 

common law, and any such action necessarily is governed by the statute itself. 

W. Va. Code § 55-7-6 (1967) provides that "[ e ]very such action shall be commenced 

within two years after the death of such deceased person." At the time of the deaths of 

Petitioners' decedents in 1968, and for more than two decades thereafter, the two-year period for 

filing a claim under the Wrongful Death Statute was deemed by this Court to be "absolute," and 

not subject to tolling "for any reason," including allegations of fraudulent concealment. It was 

not until this Court's decision in Miller v. Romero, 413 S.E.2d 178, 181 (W. Va. 1991), 
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overruled in part, Bradshaw v. Soulsby, 558 S.E.2d 681 (W. Va. 2001), that any exception to that 

rule was recognized. And, even then, the Court was careful not to create or recognize a separate 

and independent cause sounding in common law, but instead to only adopt equitable tolling 

principles compatible with the existing statutory framework. If, as Petitioners contend, Kessel in 

1998 recognized a pre-existing and independent cause of action sounding in fraud, then the 

exception noted in Miller would have been totally unnecessary. There would have been no need 

to toll the limitation period in the statute because an aggrieved party already had available an 

independent, non-statutory cause of action sounding in fraud. 

Petitioners' contorted reading of the holding in Kessel is, as such, borne of nothing more 

than desperation. Their wrongful death claims are time barred. As such, they seek to convert the 

fraudulent concealment doctrine, as applied in Miller to wrongful death claims, into an 

independent and freestanding cause of action for no other purpose than to avoid that bar. The 

District Court properly rejected this effort, concluding that "that the [Petitioners 1 have not 

pleaded a cause of action for fraudulent concealment, but rather have asserted the fioaudulent 

concealment doctrine to toll their real claim for wrongful death." JA 1262. 

Even if this Court determines that its 1998 Kessel decision recognized a cognizable claim 

for fraudulent concealment under the circumstances presented here, that holding has no 

retroactive application to events occurring in 1968. Kessel can only be applied prospectively. 

As such, it does not rescue Petitioners' claims, claims the District Court recognized are "late by 

more than forty-four years." JA 1244. 

In response to the second certified question, the statute of limitations on Petitioners' 

fraudulent concealment claims against CCC, if they have one, began to run when Petitioners 

knew or should have known of the bridging of the connection between the Mod's Run fan and 
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the FEMCO alann system, and that CCC allegedly had concealed that information from them. 

The specific identities of Sacchetti and/or Kovarbasich are simply not elements of such a claim 

against CCC as a corporate entity. The duty to disclose, if it existed, was CCC's duty. That it 

allegedly did not disclose that the FEMCO system had been rendered inoperable was known to 

Petitioners when they came into possession of the Layne report in the Kaznoski case in the early 

1970s. Whether it was Sacchetti, Kovarbasich or some other employee or agent on behalf of 

CCC who failed to make that disclosure simply does not matter in t~rms of Petitioners being able 

to make a claim for fraudulent concealment against it, Petitioners assertions to the contrary 

notwithstanding. In the same vein, the "discovery rule" as a tolling doctrine. has no application 

here and, even if that were not the case, it could not be retroactively applied to toll the two-year 

limitations period governing Petitioners' claims. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

In its Order entered on October 4, 2018, this Court indicated that it intends to hear oral 

argument on a date to be determined during the January 2019 Term of Court. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review. 

"A de novo standard is applied by this Court in addressing the legal issues presented by a 

certified question from a federal district or appellate court." Syl. Pt. 1, Light v. Allstate Ins. Co., 

506 S.E.2d 64 (W. Va. 1998). 

B. Certified Question No.1 must be answered in the Negative. 

1. Petitioners have no Cognizable Common Law Fraudulent Concealment 
Claim for Damages Occasioned by the Deaths of their Decedents. 

a. No Cause of Action for Wrongful Death Exists in West Virginia 
Separate and Apartfrom the Wrongful Death Statute. 
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In answering the first certified question, Petitioners conspicuously avoid meaningful 

discussion of either the West Virginia Wrongful Death Statute, W. Va. Code § 55-7-6 (1967), or 

over a century of established case law arising thereunder. And, although Petitioners have 

labelled their single cause of action here as one for "fraud, concealment and nondisclosure," it 

remains one governed exclusively by the Wrongful Death Statute as a matter of law. 

As observed by the District Court, "[aJn action for wrongful death is a statutory creation." 

JA 1241. The Wrongful Death Statute "provides for who may bring such a suit, the amount and 

distribution of damages, and the period of limitation for commencing such an action." JA 1239. 

This Court has repeatedly made clear that no cause of action, however labeled, for the wrongful 

death of a person exists separate and apart from the Wrongful Death Statute. 

At common law there was no right of action for damages for injury occasioned 
by the death of a person by a wrongful act. As no right of action for death by a 
wrongful act existed at common law, the right or cause of action for wrongful 
death, if maintainable, exists under and by virtue of the provisions of the 
Wrongful Death Statute of this State .... 

Baldwin v. Butcher, 184 S.E.2d 428,429 CW. Va. 1971) (emphasis added); see also, Miller, 413 

S.E.2d at 181. 

Consistent with that principle, the District Court concluded that Petitioners' claims in this 

action, however labeled in their Complaint, "sound in wrongful death." JA 1240. Indeed, in 

answering the same question before this Court, the District Court correctly recognized that, 

under West Virginia law, "[ aJn allegation offraud that prevents the bringing of a wrongful death 

suit can hardly be said to exist 'separate and apart from the Wrongful Death Statute. '" ld. 

(quoting Miller, 413 S.E.2d at 181). 

The District Court is entirely correct. This action was brought by Petitioners on behalf of 

themselves and a putative class comprised of the estates of the other 76 miners who died in the 
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No.9 Mine explosion on November 20, 1968. lA, 175-76 ,;,; 1, 46-47. The central claim in 

Petitioners' Complaint is that CCC concealed information which allegedly "deprived plaintiffs of 

their right to obtain relief against defendants under West Virginia's wrongful death statute." JA 

188-91, ,;,; 57-59, 66, 67 (emphasis added). The sole element of compensatory damages sought 

by Petitioners is an award, "{pJursuant to W. Va. Code § 55-7-6 (1967) {the wrongful death 

statute], (sic) one hundred and ten thousand dollar (sic) ($110,000) per class member Jor the 

wrongful death oj each deceased coal miner. " JA 193 (emphasis added). 

Adoption of Petitioners' argument that this Court should now interpret and expand Kessel 

to recognize a separate, common law fraudulent concealment action sounding in wrongful death 

not only would effectively eviscerate the Wrongful Death Statute and the legislative intent 

behind it, but would run directly contrary to long established West Virginia law that no such 

right of action exists at common law, and any such action necessarily is governed by the statute 

itself. Baldwin, 184 S.E.2d at 429. 

b. Petitioners' Ciaims are governed by the Historical Rule that the Two
Year LimiJation upon the Bringing oj an Action for Wrongful Death is 
an Integral Part of the Statute Itself, and Creates a Condition Precedent 
to the Bringing oj such an Action. 

W. Va. Code § 55-7-6 (1967) provides that "[e]very such action shall be commenced 

within two years after the death of such deceased person." Petitioners have never disputed that, 

if their action is one for wrongful death, the applicable limitation period is two years and that 

their claims would be barred. JA 1240. 

At the time of the explosion in November 1968, and continuing for the next 23 years until 

this Court decided Miller in 1991, West Virginia law consistently recognized that the applicable 

two-year limitations period in the Wrongful Death Statute was absolute and subject to no 
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exceptions. "In other words, it was an element of the action that could not be tolled and, strictly 

speaking, was not a statute oflimitations." JA 1241. 

As early as Lambert v. Ensign Manufacturing Co., 26 S.E. 431 (W.Va. 1896), this Court 

reco gnized: 

The bringing of the [wrongful death] suit within two years ... is made an essential 
element of the right to sue .... And it is made absolute, without saving or 
qualification of any kind whatsoever. There is no opening for explanation or 
excuse. Therefore, strictly speaking, it is not a statute of limitation. 

Id., 26 S.E. at 432 (emphasis added)JO 

Even after the 1968 explosion, this Court, in Rosier v. Garron, Inc., 199 S.E.2d 50 (W. 

Va. 1973), reaffirmed its prior rulings, stating that "the two year limitation period upon the 

bringing of an action for wrongfit! death is an integral part of the statute itself and creates a 

condition precedent to the bringing of an action which bears no relationship to statutes of 

limitation and contains no language that would justify a joint constmction with the statutes of 

limitation." Id., 199 S.E.2d at 53 (citing Smith v. Eureka Pipe Line Co., 8 S.E.2d 890 (W. Va. 

1940». 

Again, twelve years after the explosion, in Huggins v. Hospital Board of Monongalia 

County, 270 S.E.2d 160 (1980), this Court explained the then controlling law as follows: 

This Court has reasoned that the two-year limitation upon the bringing of an 
action for wrongful death is an integral part of the statute itself and creates a 
condition precedent to the bringing of an action. The condition is made absolute 
and, strictly speaking, is not a statute of limitations. The time fIXed by the 
statute creating the right is one of the components entering into the plaintiff's 
right of recovery. . .. Once the statutory period expires, there remains no 
foundation for judicial action. In a proceeding which is barred by the statute of 
limitations, however, the basis for relief continues, but the use of the means of 
enforcing it may be barred if the lapse of time is affirmatively asserted for that 

10 See also, Prater v. Norfolk & Western Ry. Co., 1995 U.S. App. LEXIS 25808, at *3-4 (4th Cir. 1995) (holding 
that "[t]he two-year limitation is an integral part of the wrongful death statute, and it is a condition precedent to snit 
rather than a statute of limitations. (citation omitted). Thus, bringing suit within two years of death is an essential 
element of the cause of action, and, once the statutory period ends there is no cause of action."). 
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purpose. . .. The issue here is whether the action was properly commenced 
within two years after the death of the appellant's decedent. 

ld, at 162-63 (emphasis added); see also, Miller, 413 S.E.2d at 180 ("The plaintiff s argument 

for extending the time limitations for wrongful death cases ignores a crucial line of West 

Virginia case law interpreting our wrongful death act."). Thus, at the time of Petitioners' 

decedents' deaths in 1968, and for many years thereafter, the two-year period for filing a claim 

under the Wrongful Death Statute was absolute. 

c. Fraudulent Concealment, Even as a Tolling Doctrine, did not Apply to 
Wrongful Death Actions until Miller was Decided in 1991. 

As the District Court noted, "[t]here are two identically named yet legally distinct 

concepts at play when considering fraudulent concealment actions .... [F]raudulent concealment 

is a tolling doctrine recognized in West Virginia law; it also may be a cause of action that in 

some circumstances stands alone." JA 1258. Although the certified question relates to the latter 

concept, law pertaining to fraudulent concealment as a tolling doctrine in wrongful death cases in 

and after i 968 is instructive. 

As noted above, at the time of Petitioners' decedents' deaths in November 1968, West 

Virginia law specifically prohibited application of fraudulent concealment, or any other tolling 

doctrine, to wrongful death actions. It was not until Miller in 1991 that this Court for the first 

time extended the tolling doctrine of fraudulent concealment to wrongful death actions. JA 

1247. As the District Court noted, "Clearly, from the time of the miners' deaths in 1968 until 

1991, when the Supreme Court of Appeals decided Miller v. Romero, the doctrine of fraudulent 

concealment was unavailable to toll the two-year limitation on filing wrongful death actions." 

JA 1249. 

18 



Thus, fraudulent concealment, even as a tolling doctrine, simply was not permitted under 

the 1968 Wrongful Death Statute. 

d. Kessel did not Recognize or Create a Common Law Wrongful Death 
Action Separate and Apart from the Wrongful Death Statute. 

Kessel is the only West Virginia case to recognize a free-standing cause of action for 

fraudulent concealment in cases other than commercial transactions. JA 1261. Moreover, as the 

Kessel Court acknowledged, that case revolved around a unique set of facts upon which the 

plaintiff pursued a cause of action "novel to the jurisprudence of this State," and which "the 

courts of no other states have addressed directly .... " 511 S.E.2d at 754. Specifically, the case 

involved the failure of the defendants to disclose information to a biological father regarding the 

status and whereabouts of his newborn child and its mother. As a consequence,' the plaintiff 

father was prevented from establishing a relationship with his child or preventing its adoption by 

a Canadian couple. 511 S.E.2d at 735-38,755-56. 

As the District Court astutely observed, there was no claim in Kessel that the defendants' 

fraudulent concealment had prevented the plaintiff from bringing a different cause of action. J A 

1261. Rather, it "was relevant to the loss of his ability to 'demonstrate his commitment to the 

responsibilities of parenthood so as to permit him to establish and maintain a relationship with 

[the child],' which is not a cause of action in its own right." Id. (quoting Kessel, 511 S.E.2d at 

751). Nor does Kessel suggest in either its Syllabus Points or the body of the opinion that the 

Court intended to recognize a cause of action for fraudulent concealment beyond the narrow 

facts presented in that case. It is, perhaps, for this reason that Kessel has not been cited in any 

subsequent decision as precedent for any broader principle of law. 

Accordingly, the District Court properly rejected application of Kessel to this case and 

concluded "that the [Petitioners] have not pleaded a cause of action for fraudulent concealment, 
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but rather have asserted the fraudulent concealment doctrine to toll their real claim for wrongful 

death." JA 1262. 

Petitioner's do not, and indeed cannot, dispute the fact that Kessel did not create a new 

common law fraudulent concealment action in relation to a wrongful death. They acknowledged 

as much to the federal court during oral argument. JA 1754-55. Thus, the premise on which the 

first certified question is posed, and what Petitioners now seek from this Court, is not an 

application of the holding in Kessel, but rather an unprecedented expansion of the law, using 

Kessel as a vessel for that expansion. Yet, Kessel does not reco gnize, create, or even so much as 

foreshadow such a cause of action. The vessel is empty. It is but a Trojan Horse designed to 

mask the creation of a heretofore unrecognized cause of action from whole cloth; a cause of 

action that would completely override both legislative intent as embodied in the Wrongful Death 

Statute, and over a century of controlling West Virginia case law thereunder. 

Beyond that, and contrary to Petitioners' argument, this Court's analysis is not governed 

by the Restatement (Second) of Torts and its general principles slliiounding fraudulent 

concealment. [Petitioners' Brief, at 13-15]. The instant case is in no way "akin to a legal 

malpractice case," nor is it to be decided under a 1911 case from New York State unrelated to

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